0/9 10-29-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

-	-		GC4	
20	1			
e e	i.	े कान्स		200
	SID	.].	WHI	(F

JUL F 4 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clark

LANDMARK FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF FORT LAUDERDALE,

Petitioner.

v.

CASE NO. 68,348

GEPETTO'S TALE O' THE WHALE OF FORT LAUDERDALE, INC., ROBINEX INTERNATIONAL

LIMITED, ARTHUR J. BRAUER, and DONALD R. BRAUER,

Respondents.

REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN CASE NO. 85-1112

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CONSTANCE G. GRAYSON
ENGLISH, McCAUGHAN & O'BRYAN
100 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 1100
P. O. Box 14098
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302-4098

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about July 9, 1981, Landmark filed, in Broward County Circuit Court, a Verified Petition in Replevin and Complaint for damages (R. 106-110), which complaint was subsequently amended. (R. 132-141). The Amended Complaint sought recovery of personal property which had served as collateral for a security agreement, damages for breach of a promissory note and recovery from guarantors under separate guaranty agreements. (R. 132-141).

Following a Show Cause hearing, a Writ of Prejudgment Replevin was issued. (R. 111-119). Landmark took possession of the collateral pursuant to that Writ (R. 37).

The Honorable J. Cail Lee entered, on February 17, 1982, a Final Summary Judgment on behalf of Landmark (R. 161-162). (See Appendix.) On or about February 26, 1982, Respondents filed a Motion for Rehearing (R. 167-169), which Motion was denied by the trial court on or about September 7, 1982. (R. 171).

On or about March 29, 1983, Respondents filed a Petition for Accounting and Setoff. (R. 196-199), which Petition was subsequently amended and styled as an Amended Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Setoff. (R. 241-245). Following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered a Final Judgment on that Petition and denied the relief sought by Respondents. (R. 260).

Respondents appealed that Final Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. (R. 261). Following briefing and oral argument, the Fourth District entered an opinion reversing the trial court's final judgment and remanding the matter for further consideration. (See Appendix.) Petitioner herein filed, on February 14, 1986, a Motion to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction, which was granted by this Court on June 16, 1986. (See Appendix.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Landmark made a commercial loan in the amount of \$100,000.00 to Gepetto's Tale O' The Whale on November 30, 1979. (R. 132-141). That loan was collateralized with a security agreement in inventory, equipment, fixtures and leasehold improvements owned by Gepetto's Tale O' The Whale. (R. 132-141). The loan was guaranteed by Robinex International Limited, Arthur J. Brauer and Donald R. Brauer. (R. 132-141). Gepetto's Tale O' The Whale defaulted in the payment of that loan. (R. 132-141).

Landmark filed suit in Broward County Circuit Court seeking damages and replevin. (R. 132-141). That court entered a Prejudgment Writ of Replevin on July 23, 1981. (R. 113-119). On or about August 11, 1981, Landmark repossessed the collateral in question. (R. 24). The Respondents participated in removing the equipment from the restaurant to a warehouse where Landmark placed its lock upon the door. (R. 17-18).

Subsequent to that repossession of collateral, a Final Summary Judgment was entered by the trial court in favor of Landmark against Respondents. (R. 160-162). The Respondents, represented by counsel at that time, were informed by their attorney that the Judgment had been entered. (R. 21). In fact, depositions in aid of execution of at least one Respondent were taken. (R. 21).

In November of 1982, Landmark personnel met with

Dave Betsel, of Atlantic Scale and Equipment, to inspect the
equipment. (R. 41). Mr. Betsel was experienced in the
business of selling restaurant equipment. (R. 42).

Landmark later ran an advertisement in the Fort Lauderdale

News advertising that the restaurant equipment was for
sale. (R. 43). Landmark personnel responded to calls

received from potential purchasers of the equipment, which
calls were received in response to that advertisement. (R.
46). Three of those potential customers met with Landmark
personnel and made offers to purchase portions of the
collateral. (R. 46). On at least one occasion, Landmark
declined an offer that had been made. (R. 85). The
equipment was sold in December of 1982. (R. 24).

an Amended Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Setoff, requesting the Court to deny Landmark a deficiency judgment due to an alleged lack of notification by Landmark to Respondents of the sale of the collateral. (R. 241-245). At the hearing conducted on that Petition, Landmark presented expert testimony from David Betsel. (R. 82-98). Mr. Betsel testified that the quantity of equipment and inventory repossessed by Landmark from Respondents was insufficient to justify a public auction for its disposal. (R. 84). Mr. Betsel further testified that Landmark had

had, in fact, rejected an offer which he made on various items. (R. 85). Mr. Betsel also testified, as an expert, that the manner of disposal chosen by Landmark to sell the collateral in question was a normal way to dispose of that collateral "because of the limited amount of small wares as far as the quantity and also the items that were in the warehouse were not of great value to a majority of restaurants in this area." (R. 87). Mr. Betsel further testified that, in his opinion, Respondents have been notified of the sale by virtue of the Judgment entered against them in this matter. (R. 93).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The basic issue before this Court concerns whether Landmark should be allowed to recover from the Respondents amounts still due by Respondents, under the terms of the Final Summary Judgment, following sale by Landmark of the collateral for the underlying obligation. Respondents maintain that Landmark supplied no notice to them of sale of the collateral and is thus barred, as a matter of law, from obtaining a deficiency judgment against Respondents.

Landmark is not attempting to obtain a deficiency judgment against Respondents. Landmark is proceeding under a Final Summary Judgment, which sets forth certain amounts due to Landmark by Respondents. That Judgment mandated that Landmark was to sell collateral it had previously repossessed, under a Prejudgment Writ of Replevin, and to credit the amounts received from that sale to the amounts due by Respondents under that Judgment. Landmark's right to proceed against the Respondents, and to recover the amounts set forth in that Judgment, less the amount received from sale of the collateral, is a right embodied in that Judgment rather than being a right made available to Landmark under the terms of the Uniform Commercial Code. By proceeding under a right represented by that Final Summary Judgment, Landmark's actions are exempted by Florida Statute from the requirements of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

Should this Court determine that Landmark's actions with respect to the sale of the collateral are not exempted from the provisions of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code, Landmark is still entitled to recover from the Respondents. Landmark has complied with the notice requirements of that Article. Landmark forwarded to the Respondents, via their attorney, a Final Summary Judgment entered against them in that matter. Landmark was obligated, under the terms of that Judgment, to sell collateral it had previously repossessed. From the date of that Final Judgment, the Respondents were given notice that Landmark would be obliged to sell the collateral and to apply the proceeds to the amounts due under that Judgment.

Landmark's actions in supplying the Respondents with a copy of the Final Judgment comply with the general Uniform Commercial Code definitions of "notice" and giving notice. Further, the Respondents had notice, from the facts and circumstances involved, that the collateral would be sold.

Landmark's obligation to give notice of a private sale of collateral, the sale of collateral which was effected in this case, was to give reasonable notification of the date after which the collateral would be sold.

Landmark complied with this requirement by forwarding a copy of the Final Summary Judgment to Respondents and should not be denied recovery of the remaining amounts due it.

Assuming <u>arquendo</u> that Landmark did not comply with the statutory requirements for notice of sale of collateral, the proper remedy is not denial of a deficiency judgment. That remedy is unduly harsh to Landmark and would result in an undeserved windfall to Respondents.

The majority of American jurisdictions that have considered this issue have allowed deficiency judgments to creditors who have failed to comply with the notice requirements. Those jurisdictions have followed one of two alternatives. One alternative is to allow the debtor to recover for injury caused by the lack of notice under the debtor's remedies outlined in Uniform Commercial Code Section 9-507. The second alternative allows the creditor to recover if the creditor can rebut a presumption that the collateral, at the time of sale, was worth the amount of the total indebtedness.

By adopting either of these alternative courses, this Court will be in keeping with the modern trend. It would, further, be in compliance with the general Uniform Commercial Code provision that the remedies of the Code are to be liberally administered to the end that the aggrieved party should be placed in as good a position as if the other party had fully performed.

Landmark presented expert testimony, at the hearing on Respondents' Amended Petition for Declaratory Judgment

and Setoff, that the sale of the collateral was conducted in a reasonable manner and that the collateral was not of great value to a majority of restaurants in the area. (R. 86-87). The price received for that collateral was reasonable. Respondents presented no evidence to rebut this testimony. The record establishes, therefore, that the Respondents suffered no injury whatsoever from Landmark's failure to provide them with notice of the sale of collateral.

The only injury which Respondents could have suffered from the alleged lack of notice of the sale of collateral would have occurred if the sale price was not the reasonable value of the collateral. The record reflects that this was not the case. Landmark should not be denied the opportunity to recover the remaining amounts due it under the Final Summary Judgment. Neither should Respondents be awarded an undeserved windfall by allowing them to escape from their obligations under that Judgment.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING AND REMANDING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT RESPONDENTS SHOULD BE DENIED A SET OFF TO THEIR JUDGMENT DUE TO LANDMARK'S ALLEGED INSUFFICIENT NOTICE OF SALE OF COLLATERAL.
 - A. Whether Landmark's Actions With Respect To The Repossession And Sale Of Respondents' Equipment Were Exempt From The Notice Requirements Of §679.504(3), Fla.Stat.
 - B. Whether The Entry of a Final Summary Judgment In This Matter And The Provision Of A Copy Of Such Judgment To Respondents Constituted Sufficient Notice Of The Subsequent Sale Of Collateral.
- II. WHETHER, IF THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT THERE HAD BEEN INSUFFICIENT NOTICE TO RESPONDENTS, THE PROPER REMEDY WOULD BE DENIAL OF A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT OR WHETHER IT WOULD BE ALLOWING RESPONDENTS A SETOFF FOR THE INJURY CAUSED THEM BY THE LACK OF SUFFICIENT NOTICE.
 - A. Whether The Provisions Of The Uniform Commercial Code Mandate Denial Of A Deficiency Judgment To A Creditor Who Fails To Provide The Required Notice Prior To Sale Of Collateral.
 - B. Whether, Should This Court Find That There Had Been Insufficient Notice To Respondents, The Proper Remedy Would Be To Allow Respondents A Setoff For The Injury, If Any, Caused To Them By The Lack Of Notice.

ARGUMENT I

- I. THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING AND REMANDING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT RESPONDENTS SHOULD BE DENIED A SET OFF TO THEIR JUDGMENT DUE TO LANDMARK'S ALLEGED INSUFFICIENT NOTICE OF SALE OF COLLATERAL.
- A. Landmark's Actions With Respect to the Repossession and Sale of Respondents' Equipment Were Exempt From the Notice Requirements of §679.504(3), Fla.Stat.

Following default by a Debtor, a creditor may proceed in one of several ways: (1) he may propose to retain the collateral in satisfaction of the debt, thereby abandoning the possibility of a deficiency, pursuant to \$679.504(2), Fla.Stat. (1985); (2) he may dispose of the collateral by "public" or "private" sale or by some other means under the provisions of \$679.504, Fla.Stat. (1985), subject to the provision that every aspect of this disposition of collateral must be commercially reasonable; or (3) he may, pursuant to \$679.501(1), Fla.Stat. "reduce his claim to judgment, foreclose or otherwise enforce the security interest by any available judicial procedure."

These provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code, which govern the secured party's rights and remedies when the debtor is in default under a security agreement, must be interpreted in light of the overall policy of the Uniform Commercial Code to expend creditors' remedies with respect to personal property collateral. Wiley v. Bank of Fountain Valley, 632 P.2d 282 (Colo. Ct. App. 1981), citing Bilar,

Inc. v. Sherman, 40 Colo. App. 38, 572 P.2d 489 (1977);

Alexander Dawson, Inc. v. Sage Creek Canyon Company, 37

Colo. App. 339, 546 P.2d 969 (1976). These creditors'

remedies are cumulative and alternative remedies may be

pursued by the secured party. Snake River Equipment Company

v. Christensen, 691 P.2d 787, [38 U.C.C. Rep. 1902] (Idaho

App. 1984).

In the case at bar, Landmark filed an Amended Complaint for damages and replevin. (R. 132-141). Following a Show Cause hearing, the Trial Court issued an Order directing the clerk to issue a Writ of Prejudgment Replevin. (R. 111-112). Pursuant to that Writ, Landmark repossessed the collateral in question with the assistance and cooperation of the Respondents. (R. 37). This repossession of the collateral by Landmark took place some six months prior to the entry of Final Summary Judgment in this matter. (R. 24).

By availing itself of the statutory right to replevin, Landmark was proceeding under the third of the options from which a creditor can choose in the face of a debtor's default. Landmark was proceeding by judicial process to obtain possession of the collateral and a judgment for damages due Landmark under the terms of the promissory note and guarantee agreements. Landmark was awarded, in the Judgment entered by the trial court,

possession of the collateral and a judgment for damages against Respondents. Landmark was further obligated, by the terms of that Judgment, to sell the collateral which it had previously repossessed and offset the sums due from Respondents by the amount obtained from the sale. Landmark complied with its obligation.

By utilizing judicial process to obtain a judgment against the Respondents and possession of the collateral in question, Landmark proceeded in keeping with the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code and case law construing same. Early after the adoption of the Uniform Commercial Code, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals considered the issue of whether, under the provisions of the Code, a creditor could pursue alternate remedies. In Re Adrian Research and Chemical, Inc., 269 F.2d 734 (3d Cir. 1959). The Adrian court held that the creditor "did not waive his right to rely on the collateral when he proceeded by execution and levy to enforce the judgment on the note against the debtor." Id. at 738. Cases since Adrian continued to construe Uniform Commercial Code §9-501 as permitting the pursuit of alternate remedies by the secured party. See, e.g., Ruidoso State Bank v. Garcia, 587 P.2d 435 [25 U.C.C. Rep. 614] (N.M. 1978) (a secured party is not precluded from levying on the collateral under the security agreement by first suing on the debt and obtaining a default judgment); Peoples National Bank of Washington v. Peterson, 498 P.2d 884 [11 U.C.C. Rep. 233] (Wash. App. 1972) (the secured party is entitled to institute an action on the promissory note and obtain judgment for the unpaid balance, to sell the collateral in the secured party's possession and, in addition, to judicially foreclose upon the security in the event the sale is abandoned).

Landmark, thus acting on rights available to it under the Uniform Commercial Code and cases construing that Code, obtained a judgment against the Respondents. Landmark had a right, as represented by that Final Summary Judgment, to recover from the Respondents the amounts set forth in that Judgment. Landmark was under a further obligation, by virtue of that same Judgment, to sell the collateral and to apply the proceeds of that sale to the indebtedness of the Respondents. Landmark's right to a deficiency following sale of that collateral was embodied in the Final Summary Judgment. In effect, Landmark had a right to proceed against the Respondents and their assets until Landmark recovered the amount for which it had obtained judgment.

This right to proceed against the Respondents, obtained by Landmark by virtue of that Final Summary Judgment, is exempted by Florida Statutes from the provisions and requirements of Uniform Commercial Code, Article 9. §679.104, Fla.Stat. provides in pertinent part

that the provisions of that Chapter do not apply: "to a right represented by a judgment (other than a judgment taken on a right to payment which was collateral)." §679.104(a), Fla.Stat. (1985). (Emphasis added.)

Because of this exemption from the provisions of Article 9, Landmark was thus under no statutory obligation to provide notice of sale to the Respondents or to conform in any other way to the requirements of Uniform Commercial Code, Article 9. Landmark was, however, under an obligation to sell the collateral in question and to apply the proceeds to the indebtedness, which Landmark did in fact accomplish. That obligation on the part of Landmark to so sell the collateral arose, however, from the terms of the Final Summary Judgment rather than from the provisions the Uniform Commercial Code. Landmark's right to proceed against the Respondents for any amount still due following such sale also arose from the terms of the Final Summary Judgment and was a "right represented by a judgment" so as to be statutorily exempted from the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code.

B. The Entry of a Final Summary Judgment in This Matter and the Provision of a Copy of Such Judgment to Respondents Constituted Sufficient Notice of the Subsequent Sale of the Collateral.

Even if this Court should find that Landmark was subject to the provisions of Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code, and that the exception set forth above is

not applicable, Landmark provided sufficient notice of the sale of the collateral to the Respondents to satisfy the requirements of §679.504(3), Fla.Stat. (1985). Landmark provided this notice by virtue of the Final Summary Judgment entered by the trial court below.

A secured party desiring to dispose of collateral after default is obligated, by the terms of §679.504(3), Fla.Stat., to give reasonable notification of the time after which a private sale of that collateral may be conducted. The Uniform Commercial Code establishes some guidelines whereby receipt and transmittal of such notice may be established. Under the Code, a person has "notice" when:

- (a) he has actual knowledge; or
- (b) he has received a notice or notification of it; or
- (c) from all the facts and circumstances known to him at the time in question he has reason to know that it exists.

§671.201(25), Fla.Stat. (1985). The Code further states that a person "notifies" or "gives" a notice or notification by "taking such steps as may be reasonably required to inform the other in ordinary course whether or not such other actually comes to know of it." §671.201(26), Fla.Stat. (1985). A person receives a notice, under the general definitions of the Uniform Commercial Code, when:

(a) It comes to his attention; or

(b) It is duly delivered at the place of business through which the contract is made or at any other place held out by him as the place for receipt of such communications.

§671.201(26), Fla.Stat. (1985).

Testimony from Respondents, at the hearing conducted before the trial court on Respondents' Amended Petition for Declaratory Judgment and Setoff, clearly established that Respondents were notified, pursuant to the Code definitions of notification, of the date after which the collateral would be sold. Respondents testified that they were notified, through their attorney, that a judgment had been entered against them in this matter. (R. 21). At the time the Judgment was entered, the Respondents were represented by counsel in that matter. (R. 21). That Judgment clearly stated that Landmark was obligated, from that day forward, to dispose of the collateral in a commercially reasonable manner by virtue of the trial court ordering that:

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