O/A 10-29-86

FILED  
OCT 29 1986  
CLERK OF THE COURT  
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR  
SOUTH DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LANDMARK FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF )  
FORT LAUDERDALE, )

PETITIONER, )

VS. )

GEPETTO'S TALE O' THE WHALE OF )  
OF FORT LAUDERDALE, INC., )  
ROBINEX INTERNATIONAL, LTD., )  
ARTHUR J. BRAUER AND DONALD R. )  
BRAUER, )

RESPONDENTS. )

CASE NO. 68,348

RESPONDENTS ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN J. MURPHY, ESQ.  
PALLOTTO, HAYSON AND MURPHY  
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS  
4600 SHERIDAN STREET, STE 401  
HOLLYWOOD, FLORIDA 33021  
(305) 962-6666

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The sale conducted by Petitioner, Landmark First National Bank of Fort Lauderdale, was not noticed and the lack of same deprives said sale of the essential element - fairness. The entire transaction, when taken as a whole reflects an arrogance and a flagrant disregard for the debtor's and guarantors' rights.

The arguments propounded by Petitioner are untenable. Petitioner contends that the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the trial court's decision due to Petitioner's lack of notice of the intended sale, or disposition of collateral. It's contention is based on a two-fold argument: initially, that Petitioner is exempt from the provisions of Florida Statute 679.504 (3) because of the exclusion contained in Florida Statute 679.104 (h), or, because the notice provision was complied with by virtue of the language contained in the Summary Judgment. Petitioner's protestations that they are excluded from Chapter 679 of the Florida Statutes by virtue of 679.104 (h) are unfounded. The trial court anticipated further procedures in conformance with Florida Statute Chapter 679, and clearly if one secures collateral pursuant to a prejudgment Writ of Replevin, it only stands to reason that the collateral must be disposed of pursuant to the Statutes under which it was replevied.

The second prong of Petitioner's initial argument that entry of the Final Summary Judgment and the providing of a copy of same to Respondents constitutes notice, is factually, and legally, incorrect. The Summary Final Judgment was entered eight (8) months prior to the sale of the collateral. The collateral was sold approximately sixteen (16) months after it was replevied. The length of time between the replevin and the sale, as well as the time between the Summary Final Judgment and sale, are unreasonably long. Further, the Summary Final Judgment itself clearly is not notice of an impending sale, but rather an instruction to Petitioner to dispose of the collateral as secured party, in a commercially reasonable manner.

The second argument raised on appeal is interesting, but without merit. Petitioner contends that the lack of notice should be remedied by a set off to, rather than a complete bar to a deficiency judgment. The majority rule in Florida is that the secured party's failure to properly notify the debtor and guarantors of the intended disposition of the collateral or sale is a bar to the obtainment of a deficiency judgment by the secured party. Article 9-507 of the Uniform Commercial Code provides that if a secured party has disposed of collateral in a commercially unreasonable manner, the debtor and/or guarantors have a right to recover from the secured party for a loss that has been sustained or to prevent an unreasonable disposition of collateral. Although Petitioner argues otherwise, Article 9-507 of the Uniform Commercial Code is inapplicable to the case at bar, which is based on a failure of the secured party to provide notice of the intended disposition of collateral.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Fourth District Court of Appeal erred in reversing and remanding the trial court's ruling due to Landmark's lack of notice of the intended disposition of the collateral.
  - A. Whether Landmark's actions with respect to the repossession and sale of Respondents' equipment were exempt from the notice requirements of 679.504(3), Florida Statutes.
  - B. Whether the entry of a Final Summary Judgment in this matter, and the providing of a copy of same, constituted notice of the disposition of the collateral.
- II. Whether, if this Court should find that there had been insufficient notice to Respondents, the proper remedy would be denial of a deficiency judgment or the proper remedy would be to allow Respondents a setoff for the injury caused them by the lack of notice.

ARGUMENT I

I. The Fourth District Court of Appeal did not err in reversing and remanding the trial court's ruling due to Landmark's lack of notice of the intended disposition of the collateral.

A. Landmark's actions with respect to the replevin and subsequent disposition of Respondents' inventory and equipment were not exempt from the notice requirements of 679.504(3), Florida Statutes.

Petitioner contends that its action with respect to the replevin and disposition of Respondents' inventory and equipment, which was the secured collateral, was exempt from the notice requirements under Section 679.504 (3) Florida Statutes. The Uniform Commercial Code is devoid of official commentary interpreting UCC 9-104 (h). It is inexplicable, and ludicrous, that Petitioners could argue that they were permitted to replevy collateral as a secured party under the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code adopted by the Florida Legislature, but when they disposed of the same, it was not incumbent upon them to comply with the code requirements. In the vernacular, the Petitioner wishes to have his cake and eat it, too.

The Summary Final Judgment (R-161-162) anticipated and directed Petitioners to dispose of the collateral in a commercially reasonable manner. The court stated:

"Having already obtained possession of certain personal property through pre-judgment writ of replevin, the Plaintiff shall dispose of same as a secured creditor in a commercially reasonable manner and credit any sums received against the above damages."(Emphasis added)

The trial court did not envision that the execution of the Final Summary Judgment would dispense with the requirements of the Uniform Commercial Code. The Court, in adopting the language of the Uniform Commercial Code quoted above, directed further procedures in conformance with the Code. It was neither anticipated by the Court, nor authorized by law that upon the entry of the Summary Final Judgment, the code requirements would be extinguished. This is further evidenced by Final Judgment on the Amended Petition for Declaratory Relief and Set-off (R-260), which did not hold that notice was not required, but rather:

"the court finds from the evidence that the lack of notice complained of by Gepetto's is not dispositive of this case for the reason that under the facts of this case the entering of the Final Judgment dated February 17, 1982, and the providing of a copy of said judgment to the Petitioners herein, constituted notice and no further specific notice of sale was required." (R-260)

The trial court held that Petitioners complied with the notice provision of Section 679.504 (3), Florida Statutes, not that the notice provisions are not required. The argument of Petitioner is not supported by the facts, nor by law.

Arguendo, if the Court holds that Petitioner is excluded under Section 679.104 (h), under what law is Petitioner governed? Is it the law of executions? Did the Petitioner comply with the law of executions? There was no writ of

execution issued by the Court. There was no Sheriff's sale pursuant to a writ of execution. Florida Statute 56.21 states:

"Notice of all sales under execution shall be given by advertisement once each week for 4 successive weeks in a newspaper published in the county in which the sale is to take place or, if there is no newspaper published in the county, by posting notices at the door of the courthouse of the county and at three other public places in the county for thirty (30) days;... on or before the date of the first publication or posting of the notice of sale, a copy of the notice of sale shall be furnished by certified mail to the attorney of record of the judgment debtor, or to the judgment debtor..."  
(Emphasis added)

Failure to publish the notice has been held to deprive the sale of the essential element of fairness, constituting fraud, mistake, collusion, surprise, misconduct or irregularity that would justify setting aside the sale. Levy v. Gourmet Masters, Inc. (1968, Fla App D3) 214 So.2d 82.

It should also be remembered that the security agreement plainly states:

"...Any notice of sale, disposition or other intended action by Secured Party, sent to Borrower at the address of Borrower specified above, or at any other address shown on the records of Secured Party at least five days prior to such action, shall constitute reasonable notice to Borrower...." (R-110).

Consequently, whether the Petitioner is required to conform with the Uniform Commercial Code, the law of executions or the security agreement, it clearly should have provided some notice, which it plainly did not.

B. The entry of a Final Summary Judgment in this matter, and the providing of a copy of same, did not constitute notice of the intended disposition of the collateral.

Plaintiff contends that the entry of a Final Summary Judgment, and the providing of a copy of same to Respondents, constituted notice of the intended disposition of the collateral. This argument must be summarily rejected.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal summarily rejected the trial court's findings, that:

"the court finds from the evidence that the lack of notice complained of by Gepetto's is not dispositive of this case for the reason that under the facts of this case the entering of the Final Judgment dated February 17, 1982, and the providing of a copy of said judgment to the Petitioners herein, constituted notice and no further specific notice of sale was required." (R-26D)

And held:

"The summary final judgment in the case at bar does not provide the information required by the code. As indicated, it was entered on February 17, 1982, and directed the bank to conduct a sale. It did not specify, however, the time or place of the sale, nor did it indicate whether the sale would be public or private. In fact, the sale occurred on December 11, 1982, eight months after the entry of the final judgment. Thus, the Trial Court findings are neither factually nor legally correct. Indeed, the evidence is undisputed that the bank failed to provide any notice to the guarantors."

In the case at bar, the secured party's employee, Mr. Crawford, who conducted the sale advised that he did not deliver any notice to the debtor nor the guarantors (T P51 L10-15).

Further, Mr. Donald R. Brauer, as President of Gepetto's Tale O'The Whale, as well as an individual guarantor of the promissory note, testified that he never received notification of the intended disposition of the collateral (T P31 L9-13). Mr. Arthur J. Brauer also testified on behalf of himself, that he never received any notice from the secured party/Petitioner, regarding the intended disposition of the collateral. (T P21 L10-16).

The rationale behind the notice requirement is that the debtor and guarantors have a vested interest in the outcome of the sale and therefore would avail themselves of every opportunity to protect their interests. This could be accomplished by the debtor's either purchasing the collateral at the sale, or securing ready, willing and able bidders to insure that a fair price is obtained for the collateral. In either event, the amount of a deficiency judgment, if any, would be substantially reduced.



## ARGUMENT

II. Whether, if this Court should find that there had been insufficient notice to Respondents, would the proper remedy be denial of a deficiency judgment or would the proper remedy be to allow Respondents a setoff for the injury caused them by the lack of notice.

Florida courts have uniformly taken the position that the secured parties' failure to comply with the statutory notice provisions of Section 679.504 (3) Florida Statutes 1983, precludes, and is a bar to any action for a deficiency judgment against the debtor. In Barnett v. Barnett Bank of Jacksonville, N.A. 345 So2d 804 (Fla 1st DCA 1977) the secured party brought an action against guarantors seeking recovery under a promissory note guaranteed by them and secured by commercial equipment. The guarantors contended that they were released by the secured party's action in selling the collateral without notice to them, thus denying them an opportunity to redeem the collateral. The First District Court of Appeal held failure of the secured party to give requisite notice prior to sale or disposition of the collateral precluded, and was a bar to the secured party's obtaining a deficiency judgment against the guarantor.

In Turk v. St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Company 281 So2d 534 (Fla 2nd DCA 1973), the secured party used and sold automobiles belonging the debtor. The secured party then sought to recover a deficiency. The Second District Court of Appeal stated:

"the language is clear that before a secured party (in this instance the bank) can obtain a deficiency against the debtor (in this instance Turk) a debtor must be given notice of what is about to occur. This is as it should be because the debtor in this instance, Turk, could have done many things. He could have purchased the automobiles himself; he could have paid the extent of the liability, i.e. \$20,000.00; he could have secured purchasers for the automobiles. He was not afforded the opportunity to do anything."

The Court held that in the absence of the required notice by the secured creditor pursuant to Section 679.504 (3) Florida Statutes 1983, the creditor forfeits his right to any deficiency against the debtor.

In Bagel Break Bakery Inc. vs. Bagelman's Inc., at 431 So.2nd 676, (Fla App 4D DCA 1983) the Court of Appeal, stated:

"Section 679.504(3), Florida Statutes (1981) requires reasonable notification of the time after which any private sale or other disposition is to be made of the property. We hold that under the circumstances of this case two days notice is not reasonable. Failure to give notice does not vitiate the sale, but it precludes the creditor from recovering a deficiency...."

In Dependable Insurance Company, Inc. v. Landers 421 So2D 175 (Fla 5th DCA 1982) an assignee of a secured creditor brought an action against a debtor seeking deficiency judgment. The Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that a secured creditor repossessing collateral, but failing to give reasonable notice of sale to debtor before selling collateral, loses its right to sue the debtor for a deficiency.

In Washington vs. First National Bank of Miami, at 332 So.2nd 644 (Fla App 3D DCA 1976) the Court of Appeals stated:

"We hold that before a secured party can obtain a deficiency against a debtor or consignor of an installment sales contract, the debtor must be given notice of what is about to occur... The Bank failed to give the required notice of the sale to the appellant and although the bank was permitted by statute to dispose of the collateral (repossessed automobile) without judicial process or notice to the appellant, it was not entitled to a deficiency against the appellant who was not so notified."

The decision in the Washington v. First National Bank of Miami was apparently overturned by the Third District Court of Appeal in later decisions (See Ayres Eisenberg Perine Datsun, Inc. v. Sunbank of Miami (Fla 3rd DCA 1984) 455 So2d 525, and Bank of Oklahoma v. Little Judy Industries Inc. (Fla 3rd DCA 1980) 387 So2d 1002).

In Ayres Eisenberg Perine Datsun, Inc. v. Sunbank of Miami, a secured party brought an action against debtors and guarantors to recover on an overdue note after repossessing collateral which was secured thereby. The Third District Court of Appeal held:

"it would be unnecessary to remand this action for further proceedings were we able to follow the majority rule in Florida that failure to give the notice required by Section 679.504 (3) precludes an action to recover the balance owed on a note after disposition of the collateral. We find however that the legislature has provided other relief which will require a remand for further proceedings... In Bank of Oklahoma, N.A. v. Little Judy Industries, Inc., 387 So.2d 1002, 1005 (Fla.3d DCA 1980), this court, construing Section 679.507 (1), adopted the following language from Norton v. National Bank of Commerce of Pine Bluff, 240 Ark. 143, 149, 398 S.W.2d 538, 541 (1966). We do not agree

with [the] contention that the bank's failure to give... notice of the intended sale completely discharged [the debtor's] obligation. For the most part the Code follows the theory formerly applicable to mortgages by which the debtor was entitled to any surplus realized upon foreclosure and was liable for any deficiency..."

The Ayres Eisenberg Perine Datsun, Inc. v. Sunbank of Miami and Bank of Oklahoma v. Little Judy Industries Inc. decisions follow the rationale that where the notice of the intended disposition or sale of collateral has not been provided in accordance with the requirements of 679.504 (3), the spirit of commercial reasonableness dictates that the secured party not be arbitrarily deprived of his deficiency by the automatic bar. This is the ultimate conflict between the Florida decisions, and this is the issue which must be decided by the Court.

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